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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW 

David Milliron, the petitioner, asks the Court to grant 

review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review. 

The Court of Appeals held that there was no \\prejudice" even 

if admission of evidence of unrelated gun assaults and 

convictions in Oregon was improper under ER 404(b), because 

the evidence of guilt for the charged crimes here was 

sufficient. 

The Court also used the same \\sufficiency" analysis 

when examining \\prejudice" for trial ounsel's unprofessional 

failure to exclude evidence that Mr. Milliron had used a highly 

offensive racial slur while committing one onf the unrelated 

Oregon violent crimes. 

Mr. Milliron seeks review of both of these holdings. 1 

8. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. To prove first-degree assault, the State had to 

1

The Court of Appeals decision is attached as Appendix A. 
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show the intent to cause great bodily injury. To prove drive-by 

shooting, the State had to show that the defendant knew of 

and disregarded the risk his actions would cause substantial 

bodily harm or death. To meet these burdens, over ER 404(b) 

objection, the State used unrelated violent gun crimes Mr. 

Milliron committed in Oregon a few weeks before and shortly 

after the crimes here. The Court of Appeals held that there 

was no "prejudice" in admission of the highly inflammatory 

other crimes evidence because, taking the evidence in the 

light most favorable to the State, there was sufficient 

evidence to support the convictions. 

Does "prejudice" for preserved evidentiary error at a 

criminal trial require a different analysis than that used when 

reviewing whether the evidence was sufficient to convict? Is 

the defendant's very low burden of proving a "reasonable 

probability" the errors affected the outcome defeated 

because of evidentiary sufficiency or does it require the 
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reviewing court to review not just the strength of the State's 

evidence but also the conflicting and neutral evidence which 

could support the defense rather than taking the evidence in 

the light most favorable to the State? 

2. The Court of Appeals also found that there was no 

prejudice under the Strickland2 standards for ineffective 

assistance when counsel knowingly failed to try to exclude 

emotional testimony that Mr. Milliron had used a highly 

offensive, inflammatory racial slur while committing one of 

the unrelated Oregon crimes. The Court of Appeals reached 

its conclusion by referring back to the sufficiency analysis it 

had conducted for \\prejudice" regarding the ER 404(b) 

evidence and ruled on that basis. 

In State v. Bertrand, 3 Wn. 3d 116, 546 P.3d 1020 (2024), 

this Court held that the prejudice analysis for ineffective 

assistance is distinct from the analysis used for sufficiency 

2

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668,104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 

674 (1984). 
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claims. Should review be granted based on this apparent 

conflict? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

David Milliron was convicted of first-degree assault with 

a firearm (and a sentencing enhancement), "drive-by" 

shooting, and first- and second-degree unlawful possession of 

a firearm based on an incident which happened at a four-way 

stop at about 10 at night in Vancouver, Washington. RP 349-

50, 811-13; CP 171-76. 

Matthew Lubov was also at the four-way stop, in his 

truck, when he and another tried to enter the intersection at 

the same time. RP 397-99. Mr. Lubov was forced to stop and 

flashed his lights at the other car, which then did a u-turn and 

pulled up next to the truck. RP 397-406. The man in the car 

asked if Mr. Lubov had a "problem" and they exchanged a few 

words but Mr. Lubov would later testify that he was not using 

a "tone" and, essentially, said "no." RP 397-99. After the 
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other car drove off, Mr. Lubov heard pops, saw a gun come out 

of the driver's side window of the car, then heard more "pops." 

RP 397-402. 

Mr. Lubov was not injured but the truck was hit twice -

in the passenger side bumper and fender, not high enough for 

the shots to go into the cab. RP 358, 436-37, 442. Mr. Lubov 

testified at the later trial that it seemed the assailant was 

aiming at his wheels and tires, not him. RP 406. 

Over defense repeated objection, the trial court 

admitted evidence that Mr. Milliron had committed two 

shooting crimes in Oregon - one two weeks before the 

incident in this case and one shortly after. CP 54-78; RP 116-

17, 126, 135-37, 391-93, 544, 571, 634-41. 

In the first incident, Savannah Potter and Stacey Bryant 

were delivering newspapers and driving slow in their van 

about 3 in the morning when Mr. Bryant had to pull over a 

little to let another car pass by. RP 576-81. The driver of the 
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passing car stopped next to the van and they exchanged 

"words." RP 579, 581. 

At some point during that exchange, the man in the 

other car, later identified as Mr. Milliron, said "[s]hut up, 

Nigger." RP 581. Trial counsel knew in advance about this 

testimony but made no motion to exclude and did not object 

at trial. 

After the other car passed, it stopped and Ms. Potter 

saw flashes. RP 580-81. Mr. Bryant slumped over, shot in the 

forehead. RP 580-81. He survived but did not "remember 

things" sometimes. Id. 

The second Oregon criminal episode occurred after the 

incident in this case. Daniel Witty, who was homeless, heard 

what sounded like someone breaking into a car and ran out 

from the woodsy area off the side of a road where he was 

living to find a woman and a man breaking the windows of Mr. 

Witty's car. RP 584. Mr. Witty said, "what the fuck," someone 
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said "back off," a gun fired three shots and Mr. Witty was hit in 

the hip, his car battery shot. RP 583-85. 

Ms. Potter, Mr. Witty, and an Oregon detective testified 

about the crimes with the detective talking about 

investigating and concluding Mr. Milliron was the perpetrator. 

RP 634-41. Oregon charging documents and judgments 

showed Mr. Milliron had been charged with inter a/ia 

attempting to murder Mr. Bryant, Ms. Potter, and Mr. Witty, 

also alleging assault with a firearm. See Exhibit 55. The 

prosecution was also allowed to play a phone call which jurors 

knew came from jail in which Mr. Milliron admitted shooting 

Mr. Bryant and Mr. Witty albeit not by name. RP 566-68. 

A "suspect vehicle" with a warm hood was found and 

down the street from the four-way stop in Vancouver after Mr. 

Lubov reported the incident. RP 365-73. In the grass in front 

of a house down the street was a wallet with David Milliron's 

ID. RP 365, 372-73, 480-82. No DNA from Mr. Milliron was on 
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a soda can or anything found in the suspect car, which was not 

registered in his name or owned by him and was not stolen. 

RP 493-95. An officer said a woman's wallet found in the 

messy suspect vehicle belonged to someone the officer 

declared was one of Mr. Milliron's "known associates." RP 

486, 293-94, 665. 

Mr. Milliron was arrested in Portland, Oregon in an RV in 

a transient area and a state's expert said a gun found in that 

RV had fired two casings which had been found inside the 

suspect car and a larger bullet fragment found in the street 

near where the incident had occurred. RP 645-46. Although it 

was dark that night Mr. Lubov said he could sort of see and he 

identified a photo of Mr. Milliron as the assailant. RP 415-16. 

On appeal, Mr. Milliron argued that the trial court 

abused its discretion and erred in admitting the Oregon "other 

crimes" evidence because that evidence was irrelevant, 

cumulative, and overly prejudicial under ER 404(b). Brief of 
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Appellant (BOA) at 19-36. He also argued the limiting 

instructions were insufficient. Id. 

In affirming, Division Two did not address those issues. 

App. A at 1-17. Even if it was error to admit the evidence of 

the Oregon crimes under ER 404(b), the Court of Appeals held, 

the error was "harmless" because there was sufficient 

evidence to support the convictions and, taking the evidence 

in the light most favorable to the State, Division Two 

concluded that sufficient evidence meant "there is no 

reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would 

have been different absent the alleged evidentiary error." 

App. A at 13-14. 

Mr. Milliron also argued that trial counsel was 

prejudicially ineffective under Strickland in knowing about but 

failing to move to exclude Ms. Potter's testimony about Mr. 

Milliron using the offensive, inflammatory racial slur in one of 

the unrelated Oregon crimes. BOA at 44-48. The Court of 
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Appeals again looked at the strength of the State's evidence 

taken in the light most favorable to the State and found it 

strong enough that the error did not likely affect the verdict. 

App. A at 15-16. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. The Court should grant review to decide 

whether a reviewing court must determine 

whether preserved evidentiary error is 

prejudicial by looking at all of the evidence in a 

neutral fashion, including that favorable to the 

defense, instead of applying a "sufficiency of 

the evidence" standard as did the Court of 

Appeals here 

This Court has frequently granted review to address 

questions in application and interpretation of evidentiary 

rules, especially ER 404(b), which deals with highly prejudicial 

"other crimes, acts or wrongs" and prohibits use of such 

evidence to prove "propensity." See State v. Gresham, 173 

Wn.2d 405, 421, 269 P .3d 207 (2012); State v. 

Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 465-66, 39 P.3d 294 

(2002); State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 



(2003); State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 

Indeed, it has found ER 404(b) evidence presumptively 

inadmissible, requiring the State to "meet a substantial 

burden" to show that such evidence should be admitted for a 

legitimate purpose. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d at 465-

66. Further, the Court has limited admission of evidence of 

the other crimes to cases where it is not just relevant but also 

"necessary" to prove an essential part of the State's case. 

State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 626, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). 

And this Court has commanded that, in doubtful cases, "the 

scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant and exclusion 

of the evidence." Gresham, 173 Wn.2d at 421. 

Here, the trial court admitted the evidence for "intent" 

and "knowledge," also citing the reason of rebutting the claim 

of self - defense (although no such claim was raised). 

On review, in a footnote, the Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. 
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Milliron that the evidence was not necessary to prove "intent," 

and that there was no claim of self-defense to rebut. App. A at 

6 n. 4, 14 n. 7. But the Court of Appeals then took the 

evidence in the light most favorable to the State and 

concluded that it was sufficient to convict. App. A at 10-14. 

This Court should grant review. Because it applied 

sufficiency analysis, Division Two viewed the evidence in the 

light most favorable to the State, without mentioning any of 

the conflicting evidence. See App. A at 11. Viewing the 

evidence this way makes sense for sufficiency of the evidence 

analysis because it honors the integrity of the jury's verdict by 

affirming even if the reviewing court itself would have 

weighed things differently. See, e.g., State v. Thomas, 150 

Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P .3d 970 (2004). To win reversal and 

dismissal based on insufficient evidence requires the claimant 

to prove that there is so little evidence of guilt that no 

reasonable juror would have convicted, absent the error. See 
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State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). 

The issue of "prejudice" for evidentiary error requires 

more. Although the reviewing court uses an "abuse of 

discretion" standard of review to determine if the evidence 

was properly excluded or included under the relevant rule, the 

separate, appellate analysis of whether that error caused 

prejudice applies a different standard. See, e.g. , State v. 

Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002); Smith, 106 

Wn.2d at 780. This Court has defined evidentiary error as 

prejudicial if, "within reasonable probabilities, had the error 

not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been 

materially affected." Smith, 106 Wn.2d at 780. A "reasonable 

probability" is less than the standard of "more likely than not." 

Id. 

Determining whether by a preponderance or less that 

the evidentiary errors affected the verdict in a prejudicial way 

is a far different question than whether there is sufficient 
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evidence supporting a conviction. And this Court has held that 

the "reasonable probability" standard for evidentiary error 

"does not turn on whether there is sufficient evidence to 

convict without the inadmissible evidence." State v. Gower, 

In this case, without the other crimes evidence, a 

rational jury could have found that Mr. Milliron did not have 

the required intent to cause great bodily harm when he shot 

and hit the empty passenger side of the truck below where it 

would hurt anyone. Or they could have had a reasonable 

doubt on whether the State proved that intent. Or whether 

Mr. Lubov's identification of someone he saw briefly in the 

dark was enough. Or jurors could have concluded that the 

State had not proven Mr. Milliron was the person in the car. 

This Court should grant review. Division Two 

improperly took the evidence of guilt in the light most 

favorable to the State and found no prejudice from 

14 



evidentiary error based on the application of improper 

sufficiency standards. Instead of looking at all of the evidence 

and asking if there is a reasonable probability that a juror 

could have had reasonable doubt about the State's case if the 

highly improper evidence had not been admitted, the Court of 

Appeals just held that the existence of sufficient evidence 

meant there could be no "prejudice" from the improperly 

admitted ER 404(b) evidence. This Court should grant review 

and hold that a reviewing court addressing preserved 

evidentiary error in a criminal case does not review the 

evidence in the light most favorable to the State when 

examining prejudice, and must consider not just the State's 

evidence but also the conflicting evidence as it determines 

whether, by even less than "more likely than not," the error in 

admitting highly prejudicial other crimes evidence had a 

material effect on the verdict. 
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2. The Court should grant review to address the 

conflict with Bertrand and to address the 

proper analysis for determining whether there 

was "prejudice" for ineffective assistance 

The Sixth Amendment and Article 1, §22, guarantee the 

accused effective assistance of trial counsel. See State v. 

Estes, 188 Wn.2d 450, 457, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017); Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 686; Sixth Amend.; Art. 1, § 22. In applying the 

two-part Strickland test, the Court asks 1) did counsel make 

errors or omissions which fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness even with a strong presumption to the 

contrary, and 2) did those errors or omissions prejudice 

counsel's client. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 42, 246 P.3d 

1260 (2011). 

Division Two did not address counsel's unprofessional 

failure to move to exclude the highly prejudicial evidence of 

Mr. Milliron using a completely offensive racial slur in one of 

the unrelated Oregon shootings. App. A at 14-17. Instead, it 

disposed of the case by saying even if counsel's performance 
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was deficient, there was no "prejudice" because of the 

strength of the evidence it had discussed in deciding the ER 

404(b) issue. App. A at 15-16. 

Indeed, Division Two said, "[a]s explained earlier, there 

was overwhelming evidence of guilt." App A at 16. But 

"overwhelming evidence" is a legal term of art requiring that 

the evidence of guilt is so incredibly strong that every single 

juror faced with that evidence still would have convicted had 

the evidentiary not occurred. See, e.g, State v. Guloy, 104 

Wn.2d 412, 425, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). That is not the case 

here, where there is disputing evidence on intent to cause 

serious bodily injury because the shots were aimed at and hit 

low on the car, Mr. Milliron's DNA was not found in the 

suspect car which he did not own and was not stolen, there 

were other people in the RV who could have left the gun there, 

and it was dark at night with Mr. Lubov seeing the assailant 

only for a very short time before his identification. 

17 



A rational jury could have found that Mr. Milliron did not 

have the required intent to cause great bodily harm when he 

shot and hit the empty passenger side of the truck below 

where it would hurt anyone. Or they could have had a 

reasonable doubt on whether the State proved that intent. Or 

a reasonable doubt as to Mr. Lubov's nighttime identification. 

The question is not whether there was strong evidence of 

guilt; the question was whether there was a reasonable 

probability that counsel's unprofessional failure prejudiced Mr. 

Milliron. 

As this Court has recognized, racism is an insidious stain 

and an infection on society. See, e.g., State v. Zamora, 199 

Wn.2d 698, 710-12, 512 P.3d 512 (2022). It is difficult to 

conceive of any reasonable juror who would not have been 

affected by learning that Mr. Milliron had not only injured 

people in two other shooting crimes in Oregon but that he had 

used such an extremely nasty, racist term. The likelihood of 
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an emotional repugnance and recoil at the use of the "N word" 

in the minds and hearts of jurors would be apparent to any 

reasonably competent counsel, as would the potential disgust 

and bias it could engender against Mr. Milliron. The Court of 

Appeals decision did not examine the potential impact of the 

highly prejudicial evidence using the proper "reasonable 

probability" standard, nor did it consider the evidence from a 

neutral perspective and include the evidence favorable to the 

defense. 

In Bertrand, this Court recently held that the Strickland 

prejudice test is not answered by asking "if there is sufficient 

evidence supporting the jury's verdict." 3 Wn. 3d at 124. 

Further, this Court held, "Strickland's prejudice prong does not 

impose a sufficiency-of-the-evidence test" but instead 

requires a fact-intensive inquiry asking whether there is a 

reasonable probability that counsel's deficient performance 

had an effect on the outcome of the case. Bertrand, 3 Wn.3d 
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at 124. And the Court noted that "sufficiency of the evidence 

claims are subject to different standards than assistance of 

counsel claims" for the relevant prejudice inquiry, with the 

reviewing court not taking the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the State. 3 Wn.3d at 139. And, the Court looked 

at the totality of the evidence and asks whether it is 

reasonably probable that but for counsel's errors, the 

factfinders could have had a reasonable doubt respecting 

guilt. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695. 

This Court has recognized that due process and the 

right to a fair trial requires a proceeding not tainted by any 

invocation of racial or ethnic bias or stereotypes. See Zamora, 

199 Wn.2d at 710-12. Someone who expresses repugnant 

racism is still entitled to a fair trial at which jurors' passions 

and prejudices against him are not invoked by evidence that, 

in an irrelevant prior violent gun crime in another state, Mr. 

Milliron had hollered a racist slur at a victim before shooting 

20 



him in the head. RP 109-10, 550-56. This Court should grant 

review to address the standards a reviewing court must use in 

evaluating Strickland prejudice and address the conflict with 

Bertrand. 
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E. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals used an improper "sufficiency" 

analysis and considered the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the State when determining whether the 

evidentiary error was prejudicial and in examining prejudice 

for ineffectiveness. The Court should grant review on both 

issues. 

DATED this 8th day of May, 2025. 

PREPARED IN 14 POINT TYPE IN 

WORDPERFECT BEFORE CONVERSION, 

ESTIMATED WORD COUNT: 3,474 

Respectfully submitted, 

Kathryn Russell Selk, No. 23879 

1037 N.E. 65th St. PMB #176 

Seattle, WA. 98115 
(206) 782-3353 
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UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

CHE, J. - David Milliron appeals his convictions for first degree assault while armed 

with a firearm and drive-by shooting. 

At an intersection, Milliron shot at Matthew Lubov and drove away. Later, police found 

Milliron in Oregon. In separate incidents around the time of the crime, Milliron shot two people 

in Oregon. The trial court admitted the evidence of the other crimes, finding, among other 

things, that the shootings were relevant to prove that Milliron intended to inflict great bodily 

harm in this case. 

Milliron argues that the trial court erred by admitting irrelevant, cumulative, and overly 

prejudicial evidence of his other crimes under ER 404(b) and that his counsel was ineffective for 

failing to move to exclude testimony that Milliron said an offensive racial slur during one of his 

other crimes. 

We hold that any evidentiary error was harmless and that Milliron's ineffective assistance 

of counsel claim fails. 



No. 59100-6-II 

Accordingly, we affirm Milliron's convictions for first degree assault while armed with a 

firearm and drive-by shooting. 

FACTS 

I. BACKGROUND 

On the evening of June 2, 2021, Lubov was driving home in his truck when he came to a 

four-way stop. To Lubov's right, a sedan was already stopped at the intersection. When Lubov 

stopped, the driver of the sedan flashed his headlights, and Lubov put his hand up. The sedan 

went through the intersection, performed a U-turn, and stopped next to Lubov. After a verbal 

exchange between the drivers, the sedan slowly moved forward when its driver put a handgun 

out the window and shot at Lubov. The sedan pulled forward 10 to 20 feet, stopped, and then 

shot at Lubov again. Lubov ducked under his dashboard and called the police after he saw the 

sedan speed away. Neighbors heard the gunshots, and a video that captured the audio of the 

shots was admitted at trial. 

When police arrived, they found that three bullets had struck Lubov's truck. One bullet 

struck the passenger side fender and two struck the front bumper, but none entered the cab of the 

truck. Officers found the sedan parked in a nearby neighborhood. The sedan was unoccupied, 

but the hood was warm. Officers did not locate the driver. 

While searching the area, officers found a shell casing in the middle of the road, two shell 

casings inside the sedan, two bullet fragments, and a wallet on the ground approximately 300 to 

400 feet from the sedan. The wallet contained, among other things, Milliron's social security 

card and driver's license. At the time of the incident, Lubov got a "good look" at the driver of 

2 



No. 59100-6-II 

the sedan. 2 Rept. of Proc. (RP) (Jun. 8, 2023) at 399. Later, Lubov identified Milliron as the 

shooter from a photo montage. 

Law enforcement eventually located Milliron in Portland, Oregon. Police observed 

Milliron enter a recreational vehicle (RV), remain inside for several hours, and eventually exit 

the RV. Pursuant to a search warrant for the RV, police found a Ruger 9 mm handgun. Milliron 

was prohibited from possessing firearms due to prior convictions. 

Forensic testing of the handgun from the RV and the shell casings and bullet fragments 

from the crime scene showed that all three shell casings and at least one of the bullet fragments 

were fired from the handgun found in the RV. 

The State charged Milliron by amended information with first degree assault while armed 

with a firearm and drive-by shooting. 1 

A. ER 404(b) Hearing 

II. ER 404(b) EVIDENCE 

The State moved to admit evidence of two other crimes involving Milliron under 

ER 404(b ), the shootings of Stacey Bryant on May 14, 2021, and of Daniel Witty on June 10, 

2021, in Portland, Oregon. In the Bryant incident, Milliron was driving past Bryant when he 

stopped ahead of Bryant's vehicle and shot him. In the Witty incident, Witty observed Milliron 

breaking the windows of his car and after confronting Milliron, Milliron shot Witty in the hip. 

Milliron argued to exclude these incidents. 

1 The State also charged Milliron with first degree and second degree unlawful possession of a 
firearm. Milliron does not challenge these convictions on appeal. 
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No. 59100-6-II 

The State argued that the Bryant and Witty incidents were admissible to show the intent 

element for the first degree assault charge, arguing that "these two incidents are evidence that 

[Milliron] did intend to hit Mr. Lubov when he shot at him just as he had done in the other two 

incidents, all within a 30 day period." 1 RP (May 26, 2023) at 111. 

The State further argued that the Bryant incident was admissible to show "knowledge," 

that Milliron "kn[ ew] that shooting out of a car could cause death or serious physical injury" for 

purposes of establishing recklessness for the drive-by shooting charge. 1 RP (May 26, 2023) at 

111. "So the fact that [Milliron] did cause serious injury two weeks prior by engaging in the 

exact same conduct, [ ]  should render the [Bryant incident] admissible for purposes of 

knowledge." 1 RP (May 26, 2023) at 111-12. 

To show the trial court by a preponderance of the evidence that Milliron committed the 

two crimes, the State offered a ten-count Oregon indictment and the resulting judgment, which 

arose from both incidents. In the judgment, Milliron pleaded guilty to counts 3,  5, and 8-

second degree assault with a firearm against Bryant, unlawful use of a weapon with a firearm 

against Bryant's passenger, and second degree assault with a firearm against Witty.2 

The State argued that the probative value of the other crimes was not outweighed by the 

prejudicial effect "particularly since [the State needed] to show that [Milliron] intended to inflict 

2 The Oregon indictment listed count 3, second degree assault with a firearm, as a crime against 
Bryant that occurred on or about June 2, 2021. The judgment reflects the same date. The State 
argued that this was likely a scrivener's error, as June 2 was the date of the crime in this case on 
appeal. Defense counsel responded that they did not know if it was a scrivener's error and that 
there was "not enough evidence to suggest" that Milliron pleaded guilty to shooting Bryant. In 
order to show that Milliron was the shooter in both Oregon crimes, the State also offered a jail 
recording, made after the Lubov incident and the two Oregon crimes, in which Milliron admitted 
to his mother that he was the shooter in both Oregon crimes. Defense counsel objected to the jail 
recording. 
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great bodily injury when he didn't actually end up hitting . . .  Mr. Lubov." 1 RP (May 26, 2023) 

at 119. 

The State sought a limiting instruction. The first instruction stated in relevant part that 

evidence of the Bryant incident "may only be considered for the purpose of showing [Milliron's] 

intent and knowledge. You may not consider it for any other purpose." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 

140. The next instruction stated in relevant part that evidence of the Witty incident "may only be 

considered for the purpose of showing [Milliron's] intent. You may not consider it for any other 

purpose." CP at 141. 

Milliron primarily argued that the State was making a "propensity argument," that the 

evidence of the other crimes was not demonstrative of whether he shot Lubov in the current case, 

and that the prejudicial effect of the evidence outweighed any probative value. 1 RP (May 26, 

2023) at 123. Regarding the Bryant incident, Milliron argued that he "did not plead guilty to 

assaulting or shooting Mr. Bryant" on May 14, only to having unlawfully possessed a weapon. 

CP at 57. As for the Witty incident, Milliron asserted that there was a distinct factual difference 

between that incident and the present crime, namely, that Milliron was not inside a vehicle when 

he shot Witty. 

The trial court concluded the other crimes evidence was admissible, stating that "you 

have these two other shootings really in close proximity to this one that are kind of remarkably 

similar and [ ] the idea that it was somehow in self-defense or . . .  [Milliron] just meant to scare 

them, I think this does go a long ways to negate that." 1 RP (May 26, 2023) at 125. The court 
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found that the State proved by a preponderance that Milliron committed the two crimes.3 The 

trial court gave the two limiting instructions related to the other crimes evidence. 

B. Written Conclusions of Law 

The trial court issued written findings of fact and conclusions of law based upon the facts 

above, concluding, among other things, that 

III. [The Bryant incident] is relevant to prove that the defendant intended to 
inflict great bodily harm against Mr. Lubov on June 2, 2021 and to rebut the 
defendant's claim of self-defense. 

IV. [The Bryant incident] is relevant to prove the defendant knew that shooting 
a firearm on June 2, 2021 at Mr. Lubov was likely to inflict great bodily 
harm to Mr. Lubov. 

V. [The Witty incident] is relevant to prove the defendant intended to inflict 
great bodily harm against Mr. Lubov on June 2, 2021 and to rebut the 
defendant's claim of self-defense. 

VI. The probative value of [the Bryant and Witty incidents] is not substantially 
outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. 

VIL Accordingly, [the Bryant and Witty incidents] are admissible at trial under 
ER 404(6) for the purposes stated in paragraphs 3, 4, and 5. 

CP at 103-04. 4 

3 Milliron asserts that the trial court's reliance on State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 
(1995) was misplaced. But the trial court did not rely on Lough. Rather, it noted that though 
Lough was a "prime case," it went "really more to a common scheme or plan." 1 RP (May 26, 
2023) at 125. 

4 At trial, Milliron did not claim that he acted in self-defense. Thus, the State did not rely on the 
other crimes evidence to rebut a self-defense claim. 
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III. TRIAL 

Witnesses testified consistently with the information above. 

A. Evidence of Other Crimes 

Over Milliron's ER 404(b) objections, the State presented witness testimonies regarding 

the Bryant and Witty incidents. 

Savannah Potter testified that on May 14, 2021, she and her boyfriend Bryant were 

delivering newspapers from their car when they began having car problems, causing them to 

drive slower. Bryant was driving, and Potter was in the front passenger seat. A car came behind 

them, Bryant pulled over to let the car go by, and while the car passed by, the driver said, "Shut 

up, N[* * ]ger." 2 RP (June 8, 2023) at 581. The car drove ahead of Bryant for a few minutes 

before stopping, and Potter then saw an arm reach out of the driver's side window and shoot. 

Bryant was shot in the forehead, and he "fell limp and landed in [Potter's] lap." 2 RP (June 8, 

2023) at 579. 

Next, Witty testified that on June 9, 2021, he witnessed a man and a woman breaking the 

windows of his vehicle. Witty exclaimed, " [W]hat the f[* * ]k," to which the man yelled at Witty 

to back off and shot at him three times. 2 RP (June 9, 2023) at 584. One of the rounds struck 

Witty in the hip. Witty called the police and was taken to the hospital. 5 

5 At the conclusion of Witty's testimony, defense counsel again moved for a mistrial based on 
ER 404(b ), arguing that Potter and Witty's testimonies were going to "enflame the prejudice of 
the jury" and were "propensity evidence" against Milliron. 2 RP (June 8, 2023) at 588. The trial 
court denied the motion. Milliron does not assign error to the trial court's denial of his motion 
for mistrial. 
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The trial court also allowed the State to introduce into evidence the redacted Oregon 

indictment,6 resulting judgment, and Milliron's phone call from jail that occurred on June 13 in 

which he admitted to committing the Bryant and Witty shootings. The State asserted that it was 

introducing the indictment and judgment "only to show that [Milliron] was the shooter in those 

two [incidents] because neither victim [was] able to identify" the shooter while testifying. 2 RP 

(June 9, 2023) at 625. In addition, due to the apparent scrivener's error regarding the date of 

count 3 in the judgment, the State anticipated that Milliron would argue his conviction did not 

arise from shooting Bryant on May 14. Therefore, the State argued that it needed to introduce 

Milliron's phone call from jail "to show identity, particularly for the Stacey Bryant shooting." 

2 RP (June 9, 2023) at 626. Milliron objected, arguing that because the indictment and judgment 

was admitted, there was "no need to play the jail phone call at all." 2 RP (June 8, 2023) at 571. 

Milliron argued that the phone call was cumulative and prejudicial. 

The trial court found that the phone call was relevant evidence because it established 

Milliron's knowledge of the consequences of his actions. The State played a redacted version of 

the phone call for the jury. 

B. Milliron 's Theory of the Case and Closing Argument 

During opening statement, Milliron suggested that because the sedan was right next to 

Lubov' s truck, it would have been a "pretty easy shot" for the driver of the sedan to cause great 

bodily harm to Lubov if the driver had intended to do so. 2 RP (June 7, 2023) at 346. 

6 It appears that the Oregon indictment and resulting judgment were redacted to show only 
counts 3 and 8, that Milliron "unlawfully and intentionally and knowingly cause[ d] physical 
injury" to Stacy Bryant and Daniel Witty "by means of a deadly and dangerous weapon." 2 RP 
(June 8, 2023) at 566. 
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Throughout trial, Milliron questioned witnesses regarding where the bullets hit Lubov's truck 

and whether any bullets went into the cab of his vehicle. 

Milliron moved to dismiss his case for "lack of prosecution," arguing, among other 

things, that the State had not proved intent to commit great bodily injury for his first degree 

assault charge. 2 RP (June 9, 2023) at 686. 

The State argued, 

[C]ertainly there is sufficient information that the Defendant intended to inflict 

great bodily injury. [H]e shot at the vehicle that the alleged victim was in[.] 

[T]hankfully he did not hit the alleged victim but he struck that vehicle multiple 

times . . . .  [T]here's ample arguments being made and inferences that the jury can 

draw. 

And then in conjunction with the 404(b) evidence . . .  to prove that he 

intended to inflict great bodily injury on Mr. Lubov. 

2 RP (June 9, 2023) at 688-89. 

The trial court denied Milliron's motion, finding, among other things, that "shooting into 

a vehicle I believe the inference the jury or trier of fact could draw is that is the intent to commit 

great bodily harm." 2 RP (June 9, 2023) at 690. 

During closing argument, the State told the jury that it needed to show Milliron intended 

to inflict great bodily injury, stating "[s Jo there's a number of things that you can consider there 

. . .  obviously [Milliron is] firing at the car. We know he's firing at the car because he actually 

impacts the car three times." 2 RP (June 12, 2023) at 771. Consistent with the trial court's ER 

404(b) ruling, the State then said that the jury could consider the Bryant and Witty incidents "for 

purposes of intent" and the Bryant incident to establish knowledge for the drive-by shooting 

charge. 2 RP (June 12, 2023) at 771. In regards to knowledge, the State asserted in relevant 

part: 
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So we have evidence that the Defendant knew that shooting out of a vehicle 

in this manner could cause great bodily injury because he had just done it two weeks 

prior. He just shot somebody in the head out of his vehicle in this manner two weeks 

prior so of course he knew. 

That shows that he knew that shooting out of motor vehicle in that matter could 

result in great bodily injury. 

2 RP at (June 12, 2023) 774-75. The State concluded its argument by stating, "We don't know 

where that impact landed. The Defendant in this case intended to inflict great bodily harm on Mr. 

Lubov just as he did with Stacey Bryant and just as he did with Daniel Witty." 2 RP (June 12, 

2023) at 801. 

Defense counsel primarily argued that if Milliron was indeed the shooter, he nonetheless 

lacked the specific intent necessary to support a conviction for first degree assault because 

"[n]one of [the bullets] went in the cab of the truck." 2 RP (June 12, 2023) at 792-93. The "lack 

of being able to hit somebody side-by-side with [you]" showed a lack of intent to cause great 

bodily harm. 2 RP (June 12, 2023) at 793. 

The jury found Milliron guilty as charged. 

Milliron appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

I. ER 404(b) EVIDENCE 

Milliron contends that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting evidence under 

ER 404(b) that he shot Bryant and Witty. Milliron asserts that this evidence was improper 

propensity evidence and that the trial court failed to correctly balance the probative value of this 

evidence against its prejudicial effect. Specifically, Milliron argues that the Oregon crimes were 

not admissible to prove that he had the required intent here for either the first degree assault or 
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drive-by shooting charges. We decline to decide this argument. Even presuming without 

deciding that the trial court erred in admitting the other crimes evidence, including the phone 

call, the analysis is subject to nonconstitutional harmless error review, and any evidentiary error 

here is harmless. 

A. Legal Principles 

We review a trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence under ER 404(b) for an 

abuse of discretion. State v. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009). A trial court 

abuses its discretion when its decision is unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons. 

State v. Arredondo, 188 Wn.2d 244, 256, 394 P.3d 348 (2017). 

Under ER 404(b ), evidence of a defendant's other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not 

admissible to prove their character and show that they acted in conformity with that character. 

ER 404(b); State v. Gresham, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). While ER 404(b) bars 

evidence of other misconduct to show a defendant's propensity to commit the crime charged, 

such evidence may be admissible for other purposes, "such as proof of motive, opportunity, 

intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b ). 

Before a trial court admits evidence under ER 404(b ), it must first "( 1) find by a 

preponderance of the evidence the misconduct actually occurred, (2) identify the purpose of 

admitting the evidence, (3) determine the relevance of the evidence to prove an element of the 

crime, and ( 4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect of the evidence." Fisher, 

165 Wn.2d at 745. The trial court must conduct this analysis on the record, and if it admits the 

evidence, it must also give a limiting instruction. Arredondo, 188 Wn.2d at 257. The trial court 
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should exclude the evidence "[i]n doubtful cases." State v. Thang, 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 

1159 (2002). 

"[P]rior misconduct evidence is only necessary to prove intent when intent is at issue or 

when proof of the doing of the charged act does not itself conclusively establish intent." State v. 

Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 262, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). Proof of doing an act as well as other 

evidence presented may implicitly demonstrate intent. Id. 

When the State offers evidence of prior acts to demonstrate intent, "there must be a 

logical theory, other than propensity, demonstrating how the prior acts connect to the intent 

required to commit the charged offense." State v. Wade, 98 Wn. App. 328, 334, 989 P.2d 576 

(1999). Asserting that a prior act shows intent is not a '"magic [password] whose mere 

incantation will open wide the courtroom doors to whatever evidence may be offered in [its 

name]. "' Id. (alteration in original) (quoting State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 364, 655 P.2d 697 

(1982)). 

"To use prior acts for a nonpropensity based theory, there must be some similarity among 

the facts of the acts themselves." Id. at 335. Generally, using prior acts to prove intent is "based 

on propensity when the only commonality between the prior acts and the charged act is the 

defendant." Id. 

When a court errs by admitting evidence in violation of ER 404(b ), "we apply the 

nonconstitutional harmless error standard." State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.3d 

1090 (2014 ). This requires us to determine whether there is a reasonable probability that the 

outcome of the trial could have been materially affected had the error not occurred. Id. The 
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error is harmless if the improperly admitted evidence is oflittle significance in light of the 

evidence as a whole. State v. Fuller, 169 Wn. App. 797, 831, 282 P.3d 126 (2012). 

B. Even if the Trial Court Erred in Admitting the Other Crimes Evidence, the Error Was 

Harmless 

To convict Milliron of first degree assault while armed with a firearm, the State had to 

show that Milliron, "with intent to inflict great bodily harm," "[ a]ssault[ ed] another with a 

firearm or any deadly weapon or by any force or means likely to produce great bodily harm or 

death." RCW 9A.36.0l l ( l )(a). 

To convict Milliron of drive-by shooting, the State had to show, among other things, that 

Milliron "recklessly discharge[ d] a firearm . . .  in a manner which creates a substantial risk of 

death or serious physical injury to another person." RCW 9A.36.045(1). "A person is reckless 

or acts recklessly when [they] know[] of and disregard[] a substantial risk that a wrongful act 

may occur and [their] disregard of such substantial risk is a gross deviation from conduct that a 

reasonable person would exercise in the same situation." RCW 9A.08.010(l )(c). Consistent 

with RCW 9 A.36.045(2), the trial court instructed the jury that it may but was not required to 

infer that a person acts recklessly when firing from a moving vehicle. 

Evidence at trial showed that the driver of the sedan shot Lubov's truck, with three 

bullets making impact. At the time of the incident, Lubov got a "good look" at the driver of the 

sedan, and later, Lubov identified Milliron as the shooter from a photo montage. 2 RP (June 8, 

2023) at 399. In addition, police found a wallet, which contained Milliron's social security card 

and driver's license, on the ground near the parked sedan with a warm hood. Furthermore, 

forensic tests of the shell casings and bullet fragments from the crime scene as well as the 
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handgun from the RV in which police later found Milliron showed that all three shell casings and 

at least one of the bullet fragments were fired from the handgun. 

From that evidence alone, the jury could have found that, for the first degree assault 

charge, Milliron, with intent to inflict great bodily harm, assaulted Lubov with a firearm, and for 

the drive-by shooting charge, that Milliron recklessly discharged a firearm, which created a 

substantial risk of death or serious physical injury to Lubov. 7 This evidence, taken together, 

establishes that there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been 

different absent the alleged evidentiary error. Thus, we hold that any evidentiary error was 

harmless. 8 

IL INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

Milliron also contends that his counsel was ineffective for failing to move to exclude 

testimony that Milliron said an offensive racial slur during one of his other crimes. Specifically, 

7 This is consistent with Milliron's contention that the acts of shooting at a car and shooting from 
a car were proof of intent for the charged crimes. Milliron relies on State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 
244, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). In Powell, our Supreme Court held that the trial court erred by 
admitting prior misconduct evidence to prove intent because intent was not a disputed issue. 
Id at 262. The court noted that none of the contested evidence was necessary to prove intent as 
proof of the act of manual strangulation, among other things, established the defendant's intent to 
kill. Id. "Thus, intent [was] implicit in the doing of the act." Id. Though the parties did dispute 
intent here, the contested evidence was nonetheless unnecessary to prove intent as proof of the 
act of shooting at Lubov's car from a vehicle, among other evidence, established Milliron's 
intent to inflict great bodily harm and recklessly discharge a firearm. 

8 Milliron argues that even if the State had shown a permissible purpose for the evidence under 
ER 404(b), the trial court abused its discretion "in relation to the required balancing." Br. of 
Appellant at 35. In other words, Milliron contends that the trial court erroneously admitted 
evidence of the Oregon crimes because it did not properly weigh the probative value against the 
prejudicial effect of the evidence. Milliron also argues there was "additional prejudice regarding 
the jail call." Br. of Appellant at 36. In light of our decision, we need not decide these issues. 
Even if the trial court erroneously admitted evidence of other crimes and the jail recording, such 
error was harmless. 
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Milliron argues that his counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of 

reasonableness when counsel failed to move for the exclusion of said evidence because "jurors 

would [ ] have had strong negative feelings engendered against" Milliron. We conclude that 

even if defense counsel's performance was deficient, Milliron fails to show prejudice. 

A. Legal Principles 

Criminal defendants have the right to effective assistance of counsel at every critical 

stage of the proceeding. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; WASH. CONST. art. I, §22. 

To succeed on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show both 

deficient performance and resulting prejudice. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 

S. Ct. 20 5 2, 80 L. Ed. 2d 67 4 (1984 ). We do not need to address both prongs of the test when 

the defendant's showing on one prong is insufficient. State v. Foster, 140 Wn. App. 266, 273, 

166 P.3d 726 (2007). 

Counsel's performance is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of 

reasonableness. State v. Bertrand, 3 Wn.3d 116, 128, 546 P.3d 1020 (2024). There is a strong 

presumption that counsel's performance was effective. Id. at 130. To rebut this presumption, a 

defendant must show that there was no possible legitimate trial tactic that would explain 

counsel's performance. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). 

To show prejudice, a defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that the 

outcome of the trial would have differed absent the deficient performance. Bertrand, 3 Wn.3d at 

129. That the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding is 

insufficient to show prejudice. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. If a claim of ineffective assistance 
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of counsel fails to establish a finding of either deficient performance or prejudice, it fails. Id. at 

697. 

If a defendant's claim of ineffective assistance is based on their attorney's failure to file a 

particular motion, then they must also show that the motion would have been granted in order to 

establish prejudice. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 333-34, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 

B. Milliron Fails to Show Prejudice 

As Milliron's claim of ineffective assistance centers on his attorney's failure to move to 

exclude evidence, to show prejudice he must demonstrate both a reasonable probability that the 

outcome of the trial would have been different absent the deficient performance and that the trial 

court would have granted his attorney's motion. Bertrand, 3 Wn.3d at 129; McFarland, 127 

Wn.2d at 333-34. At trial, a witness testified that prior to the driver shooting Bryant, the driver 

had passed by in his car and said, "Shut up, N[**]ger." 2 RP (June 8, 2023) at 581. As 

explained earlier, there was overwhelming evidence ofMilliron's guilt. This evidence, taken 

together, establishes that there is no reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would 

have been different if the witness had not included the racial slur in her testimony about the 

Bryant incident. Thus, we hold that Milliron's ineffective assistance of counsel claim fails 

because he cannot show prejudice. 

CONCLUSION 

We hold that any evidentiary error was harmless and that Milliron's ineffective assistance 

of counsel claim fails. Accordingly, we affirm Milliron's convictions for first degree assault 

while armed with a firearm and drive-by shooting. 
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A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

We concur: 

�._J .  __ 
Maxa, P.J. 
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